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DECISION AND DISMISSAL OF COMPLAINT 
 
 On December 16, 2004 Renee Jackson, an individual (Complainant or Jackson), 
filed a complaint with the Connecticut State Board of Labor Relations (the Labor Board) 
alleging that Carla A. Boland, President and AFSCME, Local 196, AFL-CIO (the Union) 
had violated §5-272(b) of the State Employee Relations Act (SERA or the Act) by 
breaching its duty of fair representation during the time that Complainant worked for the 
Connecticut Lottery Corporation (Lottery).   
 
 After the requisite preliminary administrative steps had been taken, the matter 
came before the Labor Board for a formal hearing beginning on November 10, 2005.  
The Complainant has now presented her evidence over the course of 11 hearing days on 
November 10, 2005, August 30, October 11 and November 9, 2006 and January 4, March 
15, March 19, April 9, June 27, July 25 and September 12, 2007.  During the course of 
the formal hearing in this matter, the Complainant has requested 17 subpoenas for the 
production of documents and testimony of witnesses.  The Labor Board issued all but 
three of the requested subpoenas. Of the subpoenas issued, the Complainant chose not to 
serve three of those on individual witnesses.  Five witnesses have testified at the hearing, 
including the Complainant; 108 exhibits have been entered into the record.  The Labor 
Board has issued six written rulings and procedural orders to address motions, counter 
motions and various requests of the parties.   



 The Complainant rested her case on September 12, 2007 at which time the Union 
moved to dismiss the complaint.  The Union argued its motion to the Labor Board at the 
formal hearing.  On September 18, 2007 the Union filed a supplemental motion to 
dismiss.   On September 20, 2007 the Complainant filed a written objection to the motion 
to dismiss and a cross-motion for summary judgment.  On September 26, 2007, the 
Union objected to the motion for summary judgment.   
 

On January 4, 2008 the Complainant offered an additional document arguing that 
it relates to an existing exhibit in the record and requested that the document be admitted 
as a full exhibit.  The Union objected to the introduction of the document.   

 
Based on the voluminous record before us, we make the following findings of fact 

and conclusions of law.  We deny the Complainant’s request to introduce an additional 
document and we dismiss the complaint.      

 
FINDINGS OF FACT 

 

1. The State of Connecticut (the State) is an employer within the meaning of the Act. 
The Connecticut Lottery Corporation (Lottery) is an agency of the State.   
 
2. The Union is an employee organization within the meaning of the Act and at all 
relevant times has represented a number of locals that comprise the Administrative 
Clerical (NP-3) bargaining unit of State employees, including Local 196. 
 
3. The Union and the State were parties to a collective bargaining agreement (the 
Agreement) applicable to the NP-3 bargaining unit with effective dates of July 1, 1999 
through June 30, 2002. (Ex. 33). The successor Agreement, with effective dates of July 1, 
2002 through June 30, 2006 (Ex. 47), contained the following relevant provisions:  

 
Article 6 

Management Rights  
 

 Except as otherwise limited by an express provision of this Agreement, the State 
 reserves and retains, whether exercised or not, all the lawful and customary rights, 

powers and prerogatives of public management. Such rights include but are not 
limited to establishing standards of productivity and performance of its 
employees; determining the mission of an agency and the methods and means 
necessary to fulfill that mission, including the contracting out of or the 
discontinuation of services, positions, or programs in whole or in part; the 
determination of the content of job classification; the appointment, promotion, 
assignment, direction and transfer of personnel; the suspension, demotion, 
discharge or any other appropriate action against its employees because of lack of 
work or for other legitimate reasons; the establishment of reasonable work rules; 
and the taking of all necessary actions to carry out its mission in emergencies. 
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Article 9 

Personnel Records 
 
Section One.  An employee’s personnel file or “personnel record” is defined as 
that which is maintained at the agency level, exclusive of any other file or record, 
provided, however, in certain agencies which do not maintain personnel files or 
records at the agency level, the defined file or record shall be that which is 
maintained at the institution level.  Agencies which do not maintain personnel 
files at the agency level shall notify employees in writing of the location of the 
official personnel files.   
*** 
Section Three.  No anonymous material concerning an employee shall be 
placed in his/her personnel file nor shall new material derogatory to an 
employee be placed in an employee’s file unless the employee has had an 
opportunity to sign it and has been given a copy of the material.  If the 
employee refuses to sign, a union steward shall sign the material and be 
provided with a copy. 
 
If an employee fails to attend a meeting scheduled for the delivery of 
derogatory material, the documents(s) may be sent to the employee by 
certified mail with a copy mailed to the Union and then placed in the 
personnel file. This provision shall not apply if the employee has 
requested that the meeting be rescheduled within a reasonable time to 
allow the attendance of the Union steward. 
 
At any time, an employee may file a written rebuttal to any derogatory 
materials.  Derogatory material which is not merged in the service rating 
next following shall be considered void after the time for issuance of the 
second-next service rating (not more than eighteen (18) months from the 
date of the derogatory material), unless another disciplinary action is taken 
within that period of time.  Employee rebuttals shall similarly be 
considered void under these circumstances but shall remain attached to the 
derogatory material.  For purposes of this section, “void” means that the 
document shall be marked “void for employment purposes” or placed in a 
separate file and shall not be used for any employment-related purposes 
under this contract.      
 
An employee may file a grievance on any derogatory material placed in 
his/her personnel file.  
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Article 12 

Working Test Period 
 
 Section One. The Working Test Period shall be deemed an extension of the 
 examination process. Therefore, a determination of unsatisfactory performance 
 during a Working Test Period shall be tantamount to a failure of the compet- 
 itive exam.  
 
 Section Two. Each appointee to a permanent position in the classified service 
 shall serve a Working Test Period…The Working Test Period…shall be six (6) 
 months…However, an employee who is promoted within the bargaining unit, 
 within his/her employing agency, shall be required to serve a promotional  
 Working Test Period of only four (4) months… 
 
 Section Three. At any time during the Working Test Period, after fair trial, the 
 appointing authority may remove any employee if, in the opinion of such appoint- 
 ing authority, the Working Test Period indicates that such employee is unable or 
 unwilling to perform his/her duties so as to merit continuance in such position… 
  
 *** 

 
Any employee who is promoted within an agency and who fails a Promotional  

 Working Test Period shall be returned to the position from which he/she was  
 promoted without any loss of benefits or seniority rights.  
 
 Section Four. The Working Test Period may, with the approval of the Comm- 
 issioner of Administrative Services or designated management official, be  
 extended on an individual basis for a definite period of time. Normally, such  
 extension shall not exceed three (3) months, but in exceptional circumstances 
 there may be an extension of up to six (6) months.  
 
 Section Five. (a) Dismissal during or at the end of the initial Working Test  
 Period shall not be grievable or arbitrable. Service ratings during the initial 
 working test period are not grievable or arbitrable.  
 
 (b) Any permanent employee who fails a promotional Working Test Period 
 may appeal, to Step III of the grievance procedure, alleging patent unfairness 
 of the Working Test Period due to evaluator bias or variance from the pertin- 
 ent job specification. The Employer’s decision at Step III shall be final.  
 
 

Article 15 
Grievance Procedure 

 
Section One. Definition. A grievance is defined as and limited to a written 
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complaint involving an alleged violation or dispute involving the application 
or interpretation of a specific provision of this Agreement.  
 
Section Two. Format. …A grievance may be amended up to and including  
Step III of the procedure so long as the factual basis of the complaint is not 
materially altered. 
 
Section Three. Grievant. A Union representative, with or without the aggrieved 
employee, may submit a grievance…When an individual employee elects to 
submit a grievance without Union representation, the Union’s representative or 
steward shall be notified of the pending grievance, shall be provided with a copy 
thereof, and shall have the right to be present at any discussions of the grievance, 
except that if the employee does not wish to have the steward present, the steward 
shall not attend the meeting. The Union shall be provided with a copy of the 
written response to the grievance. The steward shall be entitled to receive from 
the Employer all documents pertinent to the disposition of the grievance and to 
file statements of position.  
 
*** 
 
Section Six. The Grievance Procedure. 
 
Step I. Subagency Designee. A grievance may be submitted within the thirty 
(30) day period specified in Section Five to the office which the agency head 
has established as the subagency level for handling grievances. If the agency 
head does not establish a subagency level for handling grievances, the grievance 
shall be presented to the employee’s first supervisor in the chain of command 
who is outside the bargaining unit. A meeting shall be held with the Union  
representative and/or the grievant and a written response issued within seven 
(7) days after such meeting but not later than fourteen (14) days after the  
submission of the grievance.  
 
Step II. Agency Head or Designee. When the answer at Step I does not resolve 
the grievance, the grievance shall be submitted by the Union representative and/ 
or the grievant to the agency head or his/her designee within seven (7) days of 
the previous response… 
 
Step III. Director of the Office of Labor Relations or Designee. The parties 
acknowledge that orderly administration of the contract grievance procedure 
requires the Director of the Office of Labor Relations to play an active role in  
the contract grievance procedure. Accordingly, no grievance shall be deemed 
ripe for submission to arbitration unless and until the Director of the Office of 
of Labor Relations or designee has had an opportunity to resolve the grievance. 
 
*** 
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Step IV. Arbitration. Within fourteen (14) days after the State’s answer is due  
at Step III or if no conference is held within forty-five (45) days, within fourteen 
(14) days after the expiration of the forty-five (45) day period, an unresolved  
grievance may be submitted to arbitration by the Union or by the State, but not 
by an individual employee(s), except that individual employees may submit to 
arbitration in cases of dismissal, demotion, or suspension of not less than five (5) 
working days. 
 
*** 
 
Section Eight. In the event that the State Employer fails to answer a grievance 
within the time specified, the grievance may be processed to the next higher  
level and the same time limits therefore shall apply as if the State Employer’s  
answer had been timely filed on that last day.  
 
The grievant accepts the last attempted resolution by failing timely to appeal  
said decision, or by accepting said decision in writing.       
 

Article 16 
Dismissal, Suspension, Demotion or Other Discipline 

 
*** 
Section Two.  The parties jointly recognize the deterrent value of 
disciplinary action and, whenever appropriate, the disciplinary action will 
be preceded by warning and opportunity for corrective action.  Nothing in 
this Section shall prohibit the Employer from bypassing progressive 
discipline when the nature of the offense requires and the failure to apply 
progressive discipline shall not in and of itself be cause for overturning 
disciplinary action. 

 
4. Carla Boland (Boland) has been President of Local 196 for approximately twelve 
years, except for a period of time in 2003 when Linn Miller (Miller) acted as President of 
the Local.  Members of Local 196 work for Lottery.   
 
5. Generally, it is Union practice and procedure for stewards to file grievances on 
behalf of grievants. At steward training sessions conducted by the Union, stewards have 
been told not to use Article 6, Management Rights, as a basis for filing a grievance.  
 
6. Stewards’ meetings are held on a monthly basis. The presidents of the various 
locals and their stewards attend these meetings. One of the purposes of these meetings is 
to discuss the grievances filed by the stewards. Stewards continue to handle the 
grievances until they reach Step III. Once a grievance reaches Step III of the contractual 
grievance procedure, the Union and its representatives take over handling the grievances. 
As Local President, Boland’s only responsibility once a grievance has reached Step III is 
to attend the hearing. Copies of the grievances filed by the Local and any related 
documents are kept on file at the Local Union office. 
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7. The Complainant began employment with Lottery in or about September of 2001 
as a Legal Secretary for Corporate Counsel James McCormack (McCormack).  
 
8. After successfully completing the requisite six-month working test period the 
Complainant was promoted to a Secretary 2 position and immediately began serving the 
required four-month promotional working test period for that position.  As Secretary 2, 
the Complainant was supervised by McCormack and Chief Financial Officer John 
Ramadei (Ramadei).  

 
9. In or about January 2002, the Complainant attended a mandatory meeting 
regarding the handling of mail. At that meeting, Lottery Security Director Fred DuPuis 
(DuPuis) informed the attending clerical employees that health and safety precautions 
were going to be implemented due to biohazardous contaminant concerns. For example, 
the mail would now be sorted in a separate facility and anyone handling the mail would 
be required to wear protective gear. The Complainant was concerned by this information 
and asked several questions regarding safety and health issues, including whether she and 
her fellow clerical employees would receive hazardous duty pay as a result.  
 
10. The Complainant became upset and left the meeting before it had concluded.  She 
went to the bathroom to compose herself and then informed McCormack of the nature of 
the meeting. Later that day she was called into a meeting with her supervisors, 
McCormack and Ramadei. At that meeting the Complainant was issued a letter of 
counseling dated January 22, 2002 from McCormack and Ramadei. (Exs. 76, 101). The 
body of the letter stated in relevant part:  
 

This will serve as a letter of counseling for your behavior during a meeting 
and for leaving that meeting before it concluded. 
 
Specifically, on January 22, 2002 Fred DuPuis, CLC Security Director,  
called a meeting with the parties involved to address the issues regarding the 
new system for opening the Lottery’s mail. 
 
Mr. DuPuis began discussing the employees who would be responsible for 
opening mail and their assigned schedules. He also mentioned that one of 
the secretaries would not be included due to medical reasons and that she 
would be supplying a medical certificate to substantiate this. At this point,  
you became argumentative and asked what additional compensation would 
be given for hazardous duty and made the comment that you had a real  
problem with this assignment. When you asked why others were not in the 
pool, Mr. DuPuis explained how the pool was selected. He then went on to 
discuss that protective equipment such as respirators would be supplied. You  
made a comment about the respirators and then abruptly got up and walked 
out of the meeting without taking your schedules. This behavior is unaccept- 
able.  
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As your supervisors, we are concerned by this inappropriate behavior. While 
you are entitled to voice your views and opinions, we cannot condone the  
manner in which you reacted to Mr. DuPuis’ information. Your reaction  
showed disrespect to an executive staff member as well as disrupting a meet- 
ing attended by co-workers. There are more suitable ways to express  
concerns and differences of opinion. It is expected that in the future you 
will conduct yourself in an appropriate manner and treat your co-workers 
with courtesy and respect. Failure to do so may result in disciplinary action 
up to and including dismissal. 
 

11. The Complainant signed and dated the letter of counseling, acknowledging 
receipt. She also added a response, stating that she disagreed with its version of events. 
(Exs. 76A, 101). The Complainant’s response stated in full:  
 

I have reviewed the contents of this letter and disagree with the outlaying of the 
events. Some of the items mentioned in this letter did not occur. I admit that I  
asked to be excused from the meeting during the discussion of chemical protect- 
orants. After leaving the meeting I went to the facilities to try to compose myself. 
I reported to my immediate supervisor, James McCormack that I had left the 
meeting. Upon the conclusion of the meeting, in the presence of Lynn Agnew, 
June Bechard and Amy K, I apologized to Mr. DuPuis for leaving the meeting. 
I admit that the subject of chemical agents and the possibility of encountering 
them at work overwhelmed me. At no time during the meeting do I believe I  
became argumentative. I posed several hypothetical questions to Mr. DuPuis 
regarding safety issues and death benefits in the event of contamination. I was 
informed that this duty did not warrant special pay or benefits. It was not my 
intent to show any type of disrespect to Mr. DuPuis or the other meeting 
attendees. 
In leaving the room, my intent was merely to compose myself after partaking  
in a very serious discussion. I did not take my schedule or writing implements 
with me because I intended to return to the meeting after I composed myself. 
I did not want to loose my professionalism by becoming teary-eyed and thought 
it would be best to leave for a short period. If in doing so I have offended anyone 
then once again, I apologize. That was not my intent, and can only hope that my 
future conduct of politeness and professionalism will speak for itself.    
 

12. On or about April 25, 2002 the Complainant received a second letter of 
counseling from McCormack and Ramadei. (Ex. 76). The body of the letter stated in full: 
  

This will serve as a letter of counseling concerning issues related to your 
Probationary Period as Secretary 2 that began on January 11, 2002 and was  
scheduled to conclude on May 10, 2002.  
 
As Secretary 2 with reporting responsibilities to James McCormack and John 
Ramadei, several issues have caused concern about your performance of  
certain requirements of this position. The issues relate to your attendance,  
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technical training and general ability to deal with other employees within the 
organization. 
 
A review of your time records revealed that there were 9 occasions since  
September 1, 2001, for 93 hours of lost time. The trend in terms of actual hours 
lost has been increasing since the probationary period started and you recently 
needed to take unpaid time due to lack of any remaining sick time. We are  
concerned about the current trend of your use of sick time and the impact it has 
on your ability to perform your duties.  
 
The technical training issue relates to the assignment for John Ramadei to  
summarize a survey of lotteries on an Excel spreadsheet. The task proved 
difficult for your current understanding of Excel and the process needed to  
complete the assignment involved time from other employees as well as late 
delivery of this and other assignments. We recognize your willingness to  
attend additional training courses on Excel but there will be additional  
time and practice required before you can accumulate sufficient experience 
with spreadsheets to handle such assignments without significant assistance. 
 
Your ability to deal with other employees was the subject of extensive  
discussions in January and February when your behavior at the mail handling 
procedures meeting led to a letter of counseling and subsequent meetings. 
Your behavior since February has been acceptable and we do not wish to  
revisit the details of that period. However, because the events occurred during 
the probationary period it was felt to be appropriate to address them in this 
letter.  
 
In view of the above, we believe it is appropriate and prudent to extend your 
probationary period for another two months until July 9th. This will allow you 
additional time to demonstrate progress in the performance of the requirements  
of this position.  
 
We believe you have the ability to overcome the concerns noted above and will 
be pleased to provide whatever assistance is available toward that end. 
 
The Complainant signed the letter, along with McCormack, Ramadei, and Holli 

LaFreniere, a Union steward. The Complainant added a signed note to the bottom, dated 
April 26, 2002: “It has been explained to me that this letter is not a part of my personnel 
file and will remain stored in a separate supervisory file. I acknowledge receipt of this 
letter but am not in agreement with its contents.”   

         
13. On or about May 1, 2002 the Complainant received a memorandum from 
McCormack and Ramadei confirming that her probationary working test period was 
extended for two months and informing her that a performance evaluation would be done 
two weeks prior to the working test period end date of July 9, 2002. (Ex. 77). 
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14. The Complainant was concerned that she had received two letters of counseling 
by this point and contacted the Union. She spoke with several individuals, including 
Boland, to inquire about what could be done. Boland informed the Complainant that 
letters of counseling were not grievable matters under the Agreement. The Complainant 
responded that she was concerned the letters would be used as discipline against her at 
some point and wanted to make sure they didn’t end up in her personnel file. Letters of 
counseling are supposed to be filed only in the employee’s supervisory file; they are 
never supposed to become part of an employee’s personnel file. On May 10, 2002, the 
Complainant emailed Salvatore Luciano (Luciano), Executive Director of the Union. (Ex. 
86). She informed him that she had just received her second letter of counseling and was 
concerned about its possible disciplinary ramifications. She noted that Boland had 
advised her not to grieve her first letter of counseling, and that she had followed that 
advice against her better judgment. She continued, “Ms. Boland continues to advise me 
not to be overly concerned with the letter(s). However, I think now is the appropriate 
time to be concerned. For you see, I believe management is retaliating against me for 
speaking out at a meeting in January and has misrepresented information in the second 
counseling letter (as well as added generalizations to bolster their claims against me). 
One of the claims in the counseling letter concerns my attendance.” The Complainant 
explained to Luciano that she had been absent on several occasions to deal with family 
medical issues. She noted that it was her belief that these absences were being used to 
extend her promotional probationary period. She stated that she had discussed this with 
Boland but felt that Boland had been dismissive of her concerns. She closed the email by 
asking that the Union assist her in filing a grievance over the matter. 
 
15. On May 11, 2002 Luciano responded to the Complainant via email. (Ex. 86). He 
informed her that he would ask Gail Hooker (Hooker), Union Staff Representative, to see 
that her concerns were addressed; Hooker was copied on the email. He continued, 
“[h]owever, even without knowing the particulars, I can generalize a few things. True 
counseling letters are not normally considered discipline. They fall below even a Letter of 
Warning which is considered the first step of discipline and therefore the first level that is 
grievable. Why I say normally, is because counseling can have language in it such as 
‘this is a warning…’ and other language that could make it a disciplinary letter and hence 
grievable…Carla’s claim that these letters don’t mean much is likely correct.” He closed 
the email by recommending she get Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) certification 
for her medical issues, but to be very careful regarding attendance issues otherwise, 
stating, “It is common for that issue alone to be the determining factor in dropping 
someone during their probationary working test period. Good luck and you should be 
hearing from us soon.” 
    
16. On May 13, 2002 Hooker emailed the Complainant, and copied Luciano on the 
email. (Ex. 86). She stated that she agreed with Luciano’s response to the Complainant, 
but continued, “I know that you are concerned about your working relationship and you 
have expressed your concerns to me, verbally, regarding the Local President. I will be 
happy to set up a meeting with Carla, yourself, Marie King – the Council 4 union 
representative…Please expect a call from Marie King – on Tuesday and we can set up a 
meeting as soon as possible.” 
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17. On or about May 23, 2002 Boland, acting as a steward, filed a grievance, 07-
4533, on behalf of the Complainant. (Exs. 67, 76). The date of the alleged violation was 
listed as April 25, and the statement of the grievance was as follows: “Grievant received 
letters of counseling Grievant believes letters are incorporated into agency personal file.” 
As a remedy, the Complainant requested that “derogatory letters/counseling letters to be 
removed from all file(s), employee to be made whole – extension of working test period 
to be rescinded.”  The Complainant designated Local 196 as her representative for this 
grievance and both she and Boland, as Union representative, signed the grievance. No 
Step I meeting was held; rather the grievance was waived directly to Step II on or about 
May 29, 2002 by McCormack. The Complainant and the Union appealed and requested 
review at the next step on or about May 31, 2002. 
 
18. Grievance 07-4533 was the first of nine grievances that would eventually be filed 
by or on behalf of the Complainant over the course of the remainder of her employment 
with Lottery.  
  
19. Between May 23, 2002 and June 10, 2002 Boland conducted an investigation into 
the circumstances of the incidents of January 22, 2002 that had led to the first letter of 
counseling.  Boland met with DuPuis several times to discuss the incidents, toured the 
mail trailer and interviewed the other clerical mail handlers. 
 
20.   On or about June 5, 2002 the Complainant complained to Human Resources 
Director Karen Mehigen (Mehigen) about the conditions under which she was required to 
open mail.  Mehigen referred the Complainant to her supervisors.  On June 6, 2002, the 
Complainant met with her supervisors, McCormack and Ramadei, regarding her issue.  
Following the meeting the Complainant sent a message via e-mail to McCormack and 
Ramadei in which she characterized the events of the meeting.  Additionally, on June 6, 
2002 the Complainant again wrote to Mehigen via e-mail and  characterized her meeting 
with McCormack and Ramadei.  By letter dated June 10, 2002 McCormack and Ramadei 
issued a written reprimand to the Complainant regarding her e-mail correspondence of 
June 6, 2002 and stating in part that the correspondence “demonstrates your continuing 
propensity to challenge supervisory decisions and undermines trust that is critical to an 
effective working relationship.” By memo dated June 13, 2002 the Complainant 
requested that the text of the e-mail messages be attached to the written reprimand in her 
personnel file. (Ex. 78). 
 
21. A Step II meeting regarding Grievance 07-4533 was held on or about June 11, 
2002 at which the grievance was amended to add the claim that the employer’s actions 
had violated Article 9, Section 3 (Personnel Files) and also added allegations that Article 
12, Section 4 (Working Test Period) and Article 16, Sections 2 and 3 (Discipline) also 
had been violated. Boland was not present but Union Steward Robert Petrovits (Petrovits) 
was there to represent the Complainant. Boland had previously shared the results of her 
investigation with him. The Complainant further amended the grievance on June 12, 2002 
to include the word “all”, to add “(s)” to the word “file(s)” and to add the language 
regarding rescinding the extension in the remedy section.  
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22.   The Complainant emailed McCormack and Ramadei on June 17, 2002 regarding 
the two letters of counseling she had received in early 2002. (Ex. 79). In the email, she 
noted several points regarding the fact that she had been counseled more than once on her 
“alleged ‘inability to deal with people,’” including that she had never been told the names 
of or seen statements from the individuals she purportedly had an inability to deal with. 
She concluded by stating, “[i]t is my position that I have consistently maintained a 
business relationship with employees at the Connecticut Lottery Corporation and that I 
can not improve upon my alleged ‘inability to deal with people’ if I am not provided with 
specific names of individuals and/or incidents that have warranted this notation in the 
Letters of Counseling.” She asked that her email be attached to the letters. 
 
23. On or about June 18, 2002, Debra Mainville (Mainville), Human Resources 
Associate, denied Grievance 07-4533 on behalf of the employer. (Exs. 67, 76). 
Mainville’s denial noted that letters of counseling were not in the Complainant’s 
personnel file, nor was a letter from the Complainant’s supervisors explaining the reasons 
for the extension. Mainville stated that the amendment to the grievance received on June 
12, 2002 “has materially altered the factual basis of the original complaint as the grievant 
is now challenging the extension of her promotional working test period which is not 
allowed by contract, and she is citing disciplinary action which had not been taken when 
the original grievance was filed (5/23/02). Neither the counseling letters nor the working 
test period extension is considered discipline; they cannot be grieved. No contract 
violation. Grievance denied.”  
 
24. The Complainant and the Union appealed Grievance 07-4533 to Step III on or 
about June 19, 2002.   
 
25. By memo dated June 24, 2002, McCormack and Ramadei responded to the 
Complainant’s June 17, 2002 email. (Ex. 79). They wrote that “[a]s you were a party to 
each incident that required counseling, it is difficult for us to understand how you are not 
fully aware of the very information that you are requesting. However, in the interest of 
clarity, we will again summarize the events of the past six months that have resulted in 
letters of counseling and reprimand.” The memo then set forth, in chronological order, a 
number of incidents involving the Complainant, including the January 22, 2002 meeting 
led by DuPuis, conversations and meetings between the Complainant and Ramadei and 
Mehigen, and a complaint against two co-workers. The memo closed, “[w]e believe the 
number of events and the number of employees involved in these events is cause for 
serious concern about your ability to deal effectively with others in the organization, 
particularly your supervisors…your continuing misrepresentations/ miscommunications 
of these events has eroded…trust. Furthermore, your apparent failure to recognize these 
events after the numerous counseling sessions that you have received does little to 
mitigate our concern.”  
 
26. The Complainant’s performance appraisal for the period of January 11, 2002 
through July 9, 2002 was conducted on June 25, 2002. (Ex. 11). It stated that it was a 
promotional appraisal for the position of Secretary 2. On a five-rating scale that ranged 
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from “Excellent” to “Unsatisfactory,” the Complainant received “Good” ratings for the 
following categories: Knowledge of Work; Quantity of Work; Quality of Work; and 
Attendance. She received an “Unsatisfactory” rating in the category of Ability to Deal 
with People. 
 
27. The Complainant failed her working test period and by letter from Mehigen dated 
June 25, 2002 she was returned to her position as Legal Secretary. (Ex. 68). 
 
28. On June 26, 2002, the Complainant filed Grievance 07-4565 (Exs. 8, 68, 77). The 
grievance alleged a violation date of June 25, 2002 and claimed that “Grievant was 
demoted without just cause; treatment received patently unfair; service rating is 
inappropriate, retaliatory and discriminatory.” As a remedy the Complainant asked “[t]o 
be restored to Secretary 2 status; service rating to be corrected to reflect overall ‘Good.’” 
The Complainant indicated that her representative for the grievance would be the Union, 
and she signed both her own name and that of Alturo Rodriguez (Rodriguez), Union 
Service Representative. The grievance form indicated that it was filed at Step III on or 
about June 26, 2002.  
 
29. On June 28, 2002 the Union filed Grievance 07-4569 on behalf of the 
Complainant grieving the reprimand issued on June 10, 2002. (Exs. 69, 78). The 
requested remedy was that the letter be rescinded and the employee be made whole. The 
Complainant signed the grievance, stating that the Union, specifically Petrovits, would be 
her representative.   
 
30. On or about July 24, 2002, the Union filed Grievance 07-4568 on behalf of the 
Complainant. (Exs. 70, 79). The grievance challenged the unsatisfactory service rating 
received on June 25, 2002. The requested remedy was for the service rating to be 
amended to a satisfactory rating. The grievance was signed by Petrovits and indicated 
that the Union would be representing the Complainant. The Complainant’s name was 
signed on her behalf by an unknown individual. The grievance was waived to Step II by 
McCormack and Ramadei the same day it was filed.  It was appealed to Step II by the 
Complainant and the Union on or about July 30 2002, with Petrovits signing on behalf of 
the Union and an unknown person signing the Complainant’s name.  (Exs. 8, 68, 69, 78, 
79, 80). 
 
31. On September 19, 2002 Mehigen conducted a Step II hearing on Grievances 07-
4568 and 07-4569 (Exs. 78 and 79). 
 
32. On September 30, 2002 the Complainant’s annual performance appraisal was 
completed by McCormack. (Ex. 80). The appraisal covered the period from September 1, 
2001 to August 31, 2002 and indicated that it was for the Complainant’s work as a Legal 
Secretary. On a five-rating scale that ranged from “Excellent” to “Unsatisfactory,” the 
Complainant received “Good” ratings for the following categories: Knowledge of Work; 
Quantity of Work; and Quality of Work. She received “Fair” ratings in the categories of 
Attendance and Ability to Deal with People. In the “Overall Evaluation” section of the 
form, which used the same five-rating scale, the Complainant received a mark of “Fair: 
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No unsatisfactory elements 2 or more elements rated fair.” In the section reserved for 
comments, McCormack wrote, “Attendance: Renee has been absent a total of twelve (12) 
occasions for a total of 120 hours. Renee has been counseled on the frequency of her 
absences. Renee used her sick leave at a rate faster than it could be accrued during the 
rating period and needs to make a concerted effort to improve attendance in the future. 
Ability to Deal with People: During this evaluation period Renee was promoted to 
Secretary 2. During the promotional working test period, which was extended by two (2) 
months, she was counseled on her ability to deal with people and received a letter of 
reprimand. Renee was subsequently demoted to her original classification of Legal 
Secretary. Renee needs to maintain a cooperative relationship with supervisory personnel 
particularly in light of her role within the organization.” The appraisal form was signed 
by McCormack and approved by the President and CEO of Connecticut Lottery 
Corporation. Boland signed in the space reserved for the employee’s signature, writing, 
“Carla A. Boland for Renee Jackson.” A handwritten note in the margin of the document 
reads, “Signature of Carla Boland is for the purpose of receipt of document – not 
concurance – Renee was informed of my signing document note return by fax – copy will 
be provided to her by Human Resources.” 
     
33. The Complainant wrote a response to her annual review signed and dated October 
4, 2002. (Ex. 80). The response read in full: 
  

ATTENDANCE: 
 
I understand the importance of maintaining a positive attendance record. 
However, extenuating circumstances are attributable to the use of sick leave at 
a rate faster than it could be accrued. 
 
The Attendance notation does not reference the fact that a number of sick leave 
hours were for a FMLA related illness. 
 
Also it appears that consideration was not given for the following: 5 occasions  
were for less than 8 hours; 8 occasions were related to sick family; of the 8  
occasions – 1 occasion was for a minor child hospitalized with a life threatening 
illness; 4 of the 8 occasions were attributable to a FMLA illness; and 1 occasion 
was involuntary – I was asked to leave work. I feel that mitigating circumstances 
were not taken into account when this review was given.  
 
ABILITY TO DEAL WITH PEOPLE: 
 
I strive to maintain a professional relationship with staff and the public. On two 
separate occasions, I posed questions to management about safety and health  
concerns. The letter of counseling, letter of reprimand and demotion immediately 
followed these instances.    

34. On October 15, 2002, Mehigen issued the Step II decisions in Grievance Nos. 07-
4568 and 07-4569 (Exs. 78 and 79).  Regarding 07-4569, Mehigen indicated that the 
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reprimand had been issued “for continuing deficiencies in [the Complainant’s] ability to 
deal with people. Specifically, the reprimand was issued because of the grievant’s on- 
going propensity to misrepresent facts and challenge supervisory decisions (as depicted 
in her emails of 6/6/02 at 1:56 PM and 4:25 PM) which are detrimental to an effective 
working relationship with her supervisors.” Mehigen noted the Union’s argument that the 
Complainant was merely responding to her supervisors’ emails and was not challenging 
their decision in any way. Mehigen stated that the Complainant had been previously 
counseled in this area, receiving two letters of counseling since the beginning of the year, 
and concluded, “[I]nasmuch as the tone and content of her e-mails of June 6, 2002 are 
indicative of continuing deficiencies in her relationship with her supervisors, the 
reprimand was for just cause and the grievance, is therefore, denied.” (Ex. 78). Regarding 
07-4568 Mehigen stated  “the burden of proof is on the Union to demonstrate evaluator 
bias or variance from the pertinent job specification. The testimony and evidence 
presented did not support either claim and consequently, the service rating is warranted.” 
(Ex. 79). 
 
35. On or about October 20, 2002 the Complainant sent Rodriguez a letter via 
facsimile requesting that he seek certain information from Connecticut Lottery 
Corporation to aid in the investigation of the grievances she had pending at the time, 
including 07-4565. (Ex. 8).  Thereafter, the  Complainant repeatedly insisted that the 
Union obtain the performance reviews and other personnel records of employee Amy 
Kubachka. 
 
36. On or abut October 30, 2002, the Complainant filed Grievance 07-4572. (Exs. 8, 
71, 80). The grievance had a violation date of September 30, 2002 and stated, “service 
rating is inappropriate showing retaliation and discrimination.” As a remedy, the 
Complainant requested, “[t]o remove service rating, give back increment, to be 
transferred, cease and desist and to be made whole.” The Complainant signed her own 
name and that of Rodriguez and indicated that the Union would be her representative. On 
the lines reserved for the Step I answer, the Complainant wrote, “Agency answer not 
received in proper time frame – Grievance automatically advanced to next level due to 
default.” 
 
37. On or about November 14, 2002 the Complainant appealed Grievance Nos. 07-
4568, 07-4569 and 07-4572 to Step III of the grievance procedure.  On each grievance, 
the Complainant signed both her and Rodriguez’s names. (Exs. 68, 69, 71, 78, 79, 80). 
 
38. On or about November 22, 2002 the Complainant amended Grievance No. 07-
4572, indicating that she no longer wanted to be transferred as a remedy and that 
Rodriguez and the Union would not be representing her on the matter.  (Exs. 71A, 80).  
On or about November 27, 2002 the Complainant signed only her own name to the 
grievance form and indicated that she was advancing it to Step III.  She sent the 
grievance and the accompanying letter requesting the grievance be accepted as timely to 
Linda Yelmini (Yelmini), Director of the State of Connecticut Office of Policy 
Management – Office of Labor Relations.  
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39. In a letter dated November 27, 2002, Mehigen informed the Complainant that she 
had received her November 22, 2002 memorandum advising that she wanted to represent 
herself at the Step II hearing for Grievance 07-4572. (Ex. 80). Mehigen pointed out that 
the applicable Agreement permitted an individual to submit a grievance without union 
representation; however, since the Complainant’s grievance was originally filed by 
Rodriguez the Union retained jurisdiction over this particular grievance. Mehigen advised 
that if she so desired, the Complainant could contact Rodriguez to see if representing 
herself was a possibility. The letter was copied to the Union, Rodriguez, and the 
grievance file. 
   
40. On December 4, 2002, a Step III hearing was held on Grievance # 07-4533.   
Boland attended the Step III hearing in her role as president, but had shared the results of 
her investigation with Rodriguez prior to the hearing. The Step III response, dated and 
signed by Phil Margeson on December 5, 2002 on behalf of the employer, stated, “[a]s 
stated repeatedly over the past fifteen years, the Office of Labor Relations will not review 
letters of counseling as a grievable matter under the terms of the collective bargaining 
agreement. Management as a training device utilizes letters of counseling, or direction to 
correct what management deems as a problematic situation within the workplace. Letters 
of counseling are not now, nor have they ever been deemed derogatory material. 
Grievance denied.” (Exs. 67, 76). The grievance was not filed for arbitration. 
 
41. Sometime in early 2003 Jackson filed charges against Boland with the 
International Union alleging, among other things, that Boland was ineligible to serve as 
Local President due to her work assignment. (Exs. 10 and 36).  On or about March 13, 
2003 a decision was issued which Jackson appealed to the full International Judicial 
Panel on or about March 23, 2003. (Ex 36). 
 
42. A Step III hearing was scheduled to take place on April 15, 2003 for four of the 
Complainant’s grievances: 07-4565; 07-4568; 07-4569; and 07-4572. On April 12, 2003, 
the Complainant emailed Mehigen, copying Rodriguez and Boland, stating that she was 
and had been acting as steward for her grievances and requesting a number of documents 
in preparation for the Step III hearing. (Ex. 9). She asked that the information be provided 
to her by 4:30 p.m. on April 14 and further requested that two employees be made 
available to testify at the hearing. 
 
43. The Step III hearing for the four grievances took place as scheduled on April 15, 
2003. Boland and Rodriguez attended the hearing with the Complainant. On or about 
April 17, 2003, Donald Bardot (Bardot) issued an answer (Exs. 8, 68, 69, 77, 78, 79, 80) 
on behalf of the State that read in full: 
 

A step three conference regarding the above referenced matters was held at the 
Office of Labor Relations in Hartford, Connecticut. The grievant was demoted  
during a promotional working test period. The Union was not able to prove 
unfairness or bias in the demotion. Therefore, the grievance regarding the  
demotion is denied. Further, the grievant is precluded by the contract from 
appealing this decision to arbitration. The grievant’s other grievances involve 
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service rating issues and a reprimand. A review of the information presented 
at the conference indicates the Agency had just cause to issue the reprimand 
and did not act improperly regarding the service rating issues. The grievances 
are denied.  
 

44. On or about April 17, 2003 the Complainant engaged in a conversation with 
McCormack regarding  a leave request made by the Complainant.  (Ex. 82). 
 
45. McCormack issued a letter of reprimand to the Complainant dated May 1, 2003. 
(Ex. 82). The letter indicated the Complainant was “being reprimanded for your 
continuing deficiencies in your ability to deal with others, specifically your supervisor.” 
It referenced a conversation/incident between the Complainant and McCormack on April 
17, 2003 regarding a leave request made by the Complainant. McCormack recounted the 
incident in the letter and then stated, “[t]he manner in which you spoke to me as your 
supervisor was inappropriate, disrespectful and acerbic. In addition, you attributed 
actions to me that were neither factual nor accurate. Behavior such as this will not be 
tolerated. This incident is indicative of your past behavior for which you were disciplined 
and received less than good service ratings. In the future you are expected to conduct 
yourself in a professional and appropriate manner…You have the right to appeal this 
action in accordance with your collective bargaining agreement.” The letter was copied to 
the Union and the Complainant’s personnel file. Petrovits acknowledged receipt of the 
letter, indicating that the Complainant received the letter on May 1, 2003. 
 
46. On or about May 2, 2003 the Complainant and/or the Union filed Grievance Nos. 
07-4650 and 4660, alleging that the Complainant had received a letter of reprimand 
without just cause on May 1, 2003 and requesting that the letter be rescinded and the 
Complainant be made whole. (Exs. 72, 75, 81, 82). Boland signed the Complainant’s and 
Rodriguez’s names and indicated that the Union would be the Complainant’s 
representative on the matters. On or about May 8, 2003 McCormack waived the 
grievances to Step II without a meeting. No Step II meeting was held. 
 
47.  On or about May 16, 2003 Rodriguez, on behalf of the Union, submitted 
Grievance 07-4569 to arbitration via a letter to Yelmini. (Ex. 78).  Also, on or about May 
16, 2003 Rodriguez sent a letter to Yelmini informing her that the Union was submitting 
Grievance 07-4572 to arbitration. (Ex. 71). 
 
48. On May 23, 2003, the Complainant emailed Hooker, copy to Luciano. (Ex. 94). 
The email stated, in relevant part:  
 

Once again, I appeal to you for help. I have not received representation from 
either Carla Boland or Art Rodriguez. Appearing at a meeting is not the same as 
representation. Lack of representation appears to be widespread.  
 
On May 20th, Art and Carla appeared at a meeting requested by the Lottery to 
discuss my timesheet. We spoke about the Step 3s and the medical notes the 
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Lottery refused to accept. The Lottery is currently sitting on the fence with my 
FMLA… 
 
I bring this matter to your attention because I am pressing for my grievances to be 
brought to arbitration and I want competent representation. Art Rodriguez did 
very little to represent me at the Step 3s. He did not conduct any type of 
investigation prior to the hearings nor did he present any supportive evidence, 
including the medical notes.  
 
Art also did not press the issue of the inconsistencies in my performance 
appraisals… 
 

The Complainant then presented positive aspects of her performance reviews and 
discussed the events surrounding the mail handling meeting of January 22, 2002 and the 
letter of counseling that resulted. She also informed Hooker that her relationship with 
McCormack was deteriorating and gave Hooker background information regarding that 
matter, including a description of behavior and comments she attributed to McCormack 
during the first six months of her employment, prior to her promotion, and which she 
believed to be sexual in nature. 
  
49. On or about May 29, 2003 the Complainant filed Grievance 07-4656 at Step I. 
(Exs. 73, 83, 87). The statement of the grievance was as follows: “Management has been 
and continues to treat me in a bias manner. Their actions continue to facilitate a hostile 
and intimidating environment. This retaliatory treatment is a direct result of past 
grievances filed and a sexual harassment complaint filed against my supervisor, James F. 
McCormack. Management has failed to take corrective action. This constitutes an 
adverse act on management’s part. Management is attempting to establish a fraudulent 
case against me in order to find just cause to terminate my employment.” As a remedy, 
the Complainant requested that the employer cease and desist its actions and that she be 
transferred to another agency or assigned to another supervisor. The grievance was 
written by the Complainant, who indicated that the Union would be representing her on 
the matter.  She signed both her name and that of Rodriguez. 
 
50. By letter dated June 2, 2003 Mehigen wrote to Jackson memorializing two prior 
meetings between Jackson and Lottery Human Resources representatives regarding 
Jackson’s desire to use Family and Medical Leave for certain absences.  Mehigen’s letter 
stated the need for Jackson to produce medical certificates for certain absences. The letter 
was copied to Rodriguez and Boland. (Ex. 84). 
 
51. Grievance No. 07-4650 was revised by the Complainant at some point. (Ex. 72A). 
On or about June 10, 2003 the Complainant filed the grievance for a Step III hearing, 
sending it and an accompanying letter to Yelmini.  The revised version does not indicate 
that McCormack waived the grievance to Step II or that Mehigen denied the grievance; 
rather, in the spaces provided for Step I and II answers the Complainant wrote, 
“Management has failed to schedule a meeting within the given time period specified in 
the collective bargaining agreement,” and signed both her own name and that of 
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Rodriguez, indicating that she was filing the grievance straight to Step III on June 10, 
2003.  
 
52. On or about June 13, 2003, the Complainant filed Grievance No. 07-4656 to Step 
II.  In the space reserved for the employer’s Step I answer, the Complainant indicated that 
the employer had failed to respond in the contractual time frame and so the grievance was 
automatically advanced to the next step. She again signed both her name and that of 
Rodriguez. (Ex. 73). 
 
53. On or about June 16, 2003 Mehigen issued a memorandum to Lottery employees 
explaining how the Lottery responded to Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) requests. 
(Ex. 9). The memorandum noted that there had been recent requests for information 
related to Lottery employees, including attendance records and employment history. 
Mehigen explained that generally speaking, this type of information was considered 
public information under FOIA; however, there were exceptions. If the Lottery felt the 
information requested might be an invasion of personal privacy, it would notify the 
affected employee and give him or her an opportunity to object to the disclosure; if the 
employee timely objected, the information would not be disclosed unless it was so 
ordered by the Freedom of Information Commission. The memo was copied to five 
employee organizations, including the Union.   
 
54. On June 18, 2003 the Complainant emailed Mehigen with several questions about 
her June 16, 2003 memorandum. (Ex. 9). She asked what type of information would be 
considered an invasion of privacy and what the time frame was for filing an objection to a 
FOIA request. She also asked, “…out of curiosity, what prompted this memo? Did you 
receive complaints?” Mehigen responded on June 19, 2003 via email stating that it would 
be impossible to list everything considered private under the FOIA and that it required a 
case by case analysis, and that an employee had seven to nine business days in which to 
file an objection. Regarding the Complainant’s last question, Mehigen responded, “…I 
thought it was a good idea to clarify when and how the Connecticut Lottery responds to 
Freedom of Information Act requests. If you have any further questions, you may wish to 
contact the Freedom of Information Commission directly.” A short while later, the 
Complainant responded to Mehigen via email, stating, “[m]y last question was pretty 
specific. Is the answer to this question (“Did you receive any complaints”) no? I don’t 
want to draw the wrong assumption. Please respond. Thank you. P.S. Thanks for the 
FOIA Commission tip. I’ll be certain to contact them directly if I have any concerns.” 
 
55. On or about June 20, 2003 Grievance 07-4656 was amended to include Article 6 
of the Agreement, Management Rights, to the list of contract provisions violated. This 
amendment was initialed by Mehigen and Rodriguez. (Ex. 87). 
 
56.  On June 27, 2003 the Complainant emailed Rodriguez to ask if he had received a 
Step II answer from Mehigen yet regarding Grievance 07-4656; if so could she have a 
copy and if not to please advance the grievance to the next step. (Ex. 87). The 
Complainant also asked that Rodriguez send a copy of the Step I and Step III answers to 
her home address. 
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57. On or about July 8, 2003 the Complainant received a letter of counseling from 
McCormack regarding deficiencies in her work product.  (Ex. 84). Petrovits signed the 
letter with a notation that the Complainant received a copy on July 8, 2003. 
 
58. An Executive Board meeting of the Local was held on July 10, 2003. The meeting 
was presided over by Boland in her role as Local President. Miller, Petrovits, Rodriguez, 
and Union representative Marie King (King) were there, among others. The minutes of 
the meeting indicate that Boland updated the Executive Board on the status of the charges 
the Complainant had filed with the International on or about March 26, 2003. (Ex. 10). 
Boland informed them that a hearing with the International Judicial Panel was scheduled 
for July 30, 2003 and that she had been directed to share the financial information the 
Complainant had requested, because the Complainant had the right to see anything 
mentioned in her charges. Boland also relayed that she was going to follow the 
International’s suggestion that the Executive Board meet with the Complainant prior to 
the hearing to answer any questions she might have, and would attempt to set the meeting 
for either July 22 or 24.  
 
59. Sometime in spring 2003, Union Representative John Little (Little) was assigned 
to represent Local 196.  Little received some of the files regarding the Local, including 
some files concerning the Complainant.  Little only remained assigned to the Local for 
several months during which time Hooker also continued to handle some of the matters 
involving the Complainant.  By letter dated July 15, 2003 from Little to the Complainant 
(Ex. 84), Little stated, in relevant part: 
 

I am in receipt of your July 8, 2003 Letter of Counseling.  As you know, 
counseling letters are not grievable, but it is my recommendation that you 
write a rebuttal letter.  The rebuttal letter will then be attached to your 
counseling letter.  
 

60. On or about July 28, 2003, Mehigen denied Grievance Nos. 07-4650 and 4660 at 
Step II  indicating that the letter of reprimand had been issued for just cause.  
 
61. On August 8, 2003 the Complainant emailed Mehigen a FOIA request asking for 
the number of Letters of Counseling received by each of three named Lottery employees. 
(Ex. 9). On or about August 18, 2003 Mehigen responded to the Complainant’s request 
via certified letter, stating that none of the three employees had ever received a Letter of 
Counseling. (Ex. 9). 
 
62. On or about August 11, 2003 the Union appealed Grievance No. 07-4660 to Step 
III without the Complainant’s signature. Fae Brown-Brewton (Brown-Brewton) 
dismissed the grievance as untimely at Step III on September 15, 2003 in a written 
response. (Exs. 75A, 82). Brown-Brewton denied the grievance on the basis that it had 
not been submitted to Step III within seven days of the date of the Step II answer. 
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63. On August 12, 2003 the Complainant emailed Rodriguez, copying Boland and 
Hooker. (Ex. 87). The subject line read, in all capital letters, “June 19th Step 2…what’s 
going on??????” The body of the email stated in full:  

 
On June 19th, a Step 2 was held for a grievance originally filed on May 29, 2003 
(Art. 3, etc. violations). You argued this grievance on this date and asked, in  
writing, that I not move on any grievances without consulting you.  
 
I have not received the Step 2 answer. 
 
Has this grievance been moved to Step 3 yet? And if so, has it been scheduled? 
 
Please let me know what’s going on. I hope I have not lost my opportunity to 
be heard at Step 3 because of negligence.  
 
 

64. On or about August 12, 2003 the Complainant sent Grievance 07-4656 and an 
accompanying letter to Yelmini, requesting a Step III hearing. (Exs. 73, 83). In the space 
reserved for the employer’s Step II answer, the Complainant indicated that the employer 
had failed to answer the grievance. She signed both her name and that of Rodriguez and 
filed the grievance to Step III.  
 
65. In an e-mail dated August 13, 2003 Rodriguez responded to the Complainant’s 
August 12th e-mail, copying Hooker and Boland. (Ex. 87). The body of the email read in 
full:  
 

Renee, as always when I have a date for any of your grievances that’s when I’ll 
notify you. As to the question of Negligence, I’ll reserve my answer, at this time. 

66. On or about August 13, 2003, Rodriguez, on behalf of the Union, withdrew 
Grievance Nos. 4569 and 4572 from arbitration without prejudice via a letter to Heather 
DiMauro (DiMauro), Office of Personnel Management-Office of Labor Relations. (Exs. 
85, 98). Both letters were copied to Boland and the AFSCME Local 196 file.   
 
67. On August 13, 2003 the Complainant emailed Yelmini to inquire how many 
grievances she had pending at the Office of Personnel Management-Office of Labor 
Relations. Yelmini responded via email on August 14, 2003 that the Complainant had 
only one grievance, Grievance 07-4650, pending at the Office of Labor Relations and that 
it was scheduled for a Step III hearing on August 29, 2003. That same day the 
Complainant emailed Yelmini back to ask the subject matter of said grievance. (Ex. 72). 
 
68. On August 15, 2003 the Complainant sent Boland an email with the subject line, 
in all capital letters, “Re: June 19th Step 2…what’s going on??????” (Ex. 87). The email 
stated, in relevant part: 

 
Mehigen is not responsible for providing me with a copy of the grievance. I don’t 
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know why Art would pass the buck on this one.  
 
FYI, I have not received a copy of the answer and I suspect it has not been filed 
with OLR. 
 
If the answer to this grievance did not resolve the problem, then it should be 
moved to Step 3. 
 
As the president of Local 196 and acting steward, I am requesting that you follow 
through on this matter and make sure that my interest (and the union’s) are 
properly represented and protected. 
 
*** 
P.S. 
 
What’s the status of this latest letter of counseling investigation? Please let 
me know. 
 

69. In a same-day response copied to Rodriguez (Ex. 87), Boland replied, in relevant 
part:  
 

I have to rely on Art to provide this information to me. Karen would have sent the 
answer to Art as the steward assigned to your case…I placed one call to him and 
hopefully he has placed [the grievance answer] in the mail…Art knows the 
importance of the filing dates and I have no reason to suspect otherwise. Have 
you called him?…What leads you to believe the grievance has not been filed to 
the 3rd step?…I called Karen and she told me there have been no arrangements 
made with you concerning a letter of counseling…do not meet without Art being 
present. The union re-acts to managements actions. Under normal circumstances a 
letter of counseling could be presented without the union however taking into 
consideration the history we need to be there. If management wants to meet with 
you and you feel it would lead to discipline inform them that under the 
advisement of the union you can’t meet with them alone.   
 

70. Several hours later, the Complainant responded to Boland’s email. (Ex. 87). The 
Complainant wrote, “On numerous occasions I have made Art aware of this situation 
both orally and in writing. Because he did not collect the information needed to support 
my grievances, I had to find alternate means of gathering evidence. As “steward,” it’s 
Art’s job to get this information and to confirm it. Finding the answers to your questions 
is part of the investigative process. This information should have been provided at my 
Step 3 and to the E-Board.” The Complainant went on to outline the information she was 
referring to, primarily, another employee’s attendance data. She then wrote, “The bottom 
line is the contract was violated and I was treated in a biased, capricious and 
discriminatory manner. Jim McCormack has been retaliating against me since I lodged a 
complaint against him and turned to the union for help.” The Complainant then asked the 
union to request the referenced employee’s performance reviews. She concluded, “[m]y 
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grievance merit arbitration Carla. I hope you will rise to the occasion and lend your 
support.” In a response email a short time later, Boland informed the Complainant she 
was forwarding the memo to Rodriguez, and wrote to him, “[p]lease read the attached 
memo and the previous ones concerning Renee.” 
 
71. On or about August 18, 2003 Mehigen sent a letter to King, as a Union 
representative, informing her that the Lottery had received a FOIA request for the 
performance appraisals of one of the employees in the Local’s bargaining unit. (Ex. 12). 
The letter, which was copied to Boland, stated that King had seven business days to 
object by signing an objection statement on the form below. King signed the objection 
and dated it August 21, 2003.   
 
72. On or about August 28, 2003 Mehigen sent a letter to the Complainant responding 
to a FOIA request the Complainant made on or about May 14, 2003. (Ex. 9). Mehigen 
attached documents responding to the request and also denied some of the requests, 
stating that an employee had timely objected to the release of the information in one of 
the requests and that an employee still had time to object in another. 
 
73. On or about August 29, 2003 a Step III hearing was held on grievance No. 07-
4650 at which the Complainant, Rodriguez, Boland, McCormack, Mehigen, Secretary II 
Lynn Agnew (Agnew), and Human Resources Associate Beth Palmer were present. (Ex. 
72). The matter was not concluded on this date but was ultimately rescheduled for an 
April 6, 2004 Step III hearing that would also include two of the Complainant’s other 
grievances, 07-4656 and 07-4689. (Exs. 81, 83, 84).  
 
74. The Complainant emailed Luciano on September 10, 2003. (Ex. 95). The body of 
the email stated in full:  

 
I thought that one of the union’s goals was to educate its members? As a member 
in good standing, I asked Gayle to clarify her ambiguous reply to an earlier 
message. 
 
I expected information, not a dismissal. 
 
The fact that Council 4 management seems to lack the time and/or the conviction 
to address contractual questions/issues is endemic. Gayle’s position is also 
reflected in the level of representation (or lack thereof) that I have received in the 
past from the service reps she supervises.  
 
You may recall Mr. Luciano that recently, I contacted you about bringing 
prohibited action charges against the State for violating the contract. To date I 
have received three letters of reprimand, an extended working test period; a 
failure of a working test period/demotion, a negative annual performance review 
and a denial of an annual increase.  
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In response to a FOIA request, management informed me that they did not follow 
progressive discipline. Pre-disciplinary and/or Loudermill hearings were not  
conducted prior to meting out the discipline noted above.  
 
Some of the disciplinary actions noted above have made their way through the  
grievance process. Unfortunately, Gayle’s service reps did not present the pre- 
disciplinary information at the hearings. Now it seems, the opportunity to 
expunge my record of this information may have been lost due to Gayle’s service 
rep’s failed duty to represent me. I’d like to know if my union intends to bring 
charges against the state for this prohibited practice. I have posed the question to 
my local and am awaiting a response.  
 
Would you kindly provide me with information on the prohibited practice process 
and under what circumstances the union would bring such charges? Your 
response would be greatly appreciated.  
 
I thank you in advance for taking the time to address my inquiry.    

 
75. On September 11, 2003, Luciano emailed Hooker, copy to Union attorney Susan 
Creamer (Creamer), in reference to the Complainant’s email of September 10, 2003. (Ex. 
95). The email stated in full, “Gayle, I will ask Susan to draft a brief reply from me. I do 
not want to keep on totally ignoring her.” By that point, Luciano had received several 
emails from the Complainant regarding this particular issue, and he wanted to respond to 
the Complainant’s concerns. 
 
76. Also on September 11, 2003, Luciano replied to the Complainant’s email, copy to 
Hooker and Rodriguez. (Ex. 95). The body of the email stated in full:  

 
As you know, local unions rights and responsibilities are detailed in the 
Constitutions governing them. Council staff has no constitutional authority to 
force a local union to undertake specific action. If you have presented a situation 
to the local union, they may consult with the staff representative to determine the 
best course of action.  A prohibited practice arises out of a violation of the 
collective bargaining statutes, in your case the state employees relations act. The 
local union is the level at which the decision is made regarding local union 
membership issues. This may be in consultation with the Council 4 staff, but the 
local is the ultimate decision maker.  Your situation must be brought to the local 
union, either through contact with the leadership, the executive board, the 
steward, or at a local union meeting. To that end, please redirect your inquiry 
about whether your union intends to bring action on your behalf to your local 
union. 

 
77. On September 29, 2003 McCormack conducted an annual review of the 
Complainant’s work as a Legal Secretary, covering the period from September 1, 2002 
through August 31, 2003. (Ex. 84). On a five-rating scale that ranged from “Excellent” to 
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“Unsatisfactory,” the Complainant received “Good” ratings for the categories Knowledge 
of Work, Quantity of Work, and Attendance. She received a “Fair” rating in the Quality 
of Work category. She received an “Unsatisfatory” rating in the Ability to Deal with 
People category. Her Overall Evaluation rating was “Unsatisfactory: One or more 
elements rated unsatisfactory.” The Comments section noted, “See Attached.” The 
appraisal was signed by McCormack, the Complainant, and the President/CEO of the 
Lottery. The attached comments, which were initialed and dated August 29, 2003, stated 
in full:  

Quality of Work: Fair 
 
Comments: Ms. Jackson received two (2) Letters of Counseling during 
this rating period.  The first Letter of Counseling dated July 8, 2003 cited 
deficiencies in the accuracy of her work product.  The second Letter of 
Counseling, dated August 28, 2003 was issued for her failure to properly 
document and follow through on a February, 2003 Freedom of 
Information Request.  
 
Suggestions for Improvement:  It is suggested that Ms. Jackson pay 
closer attention to detail.  Further, she should follow instructions carefully, 
proofread her work, review files and her work product thoroughly to 
insure accuracy of information and content. 
 
Ability to Deal With People:  Unsatisfactory 
 
Comments: Ms. Jackson creates problems and disruptions through her personal 
interactions with her supervisor and co-workers.  
 
Ms. Jackson was issued two (2) Letters of Reprimand on May 1, 2003 for cont- 
inuing deficiencies in her ability to deal with people. The first Letter of 
Reprimand was issued for an incident that occurred on April 11, 2003 for 
challenging her supervisor’s direction and interfering with a co-worker.  
 
The second Letter of Reprimand involved an incident that occurred on April 17, 
2003 in which she behaved in an inappropriate and disrespectful manner toward 
her supervisor.  
 
Suggestions for Improvement: Ms. Jackson must respect her supervisor’s 
decisions regarding office procedures. In addition, Ms. Jackson must follow 
supervisory instructions as intended and refrain from challenging supervisory 
authority. It is expected that Ms. Jackson will make every effort to foster and 
maintain a cooperative working relationship with her supervisor and co-workers.       
 

78. The Complainant filed Grievance 07-4689 at Step I on or about September 30, 
2003. (Exs. 74, 84). The grievance alleged that the Complainant had received an overall 
unsatisfactory service rating on September 29, 2003 and requested the service rating be 
amended and the Complainant be made whole. The Complainant indicated that the Union 
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would be her representative on the matter and signed her own name and that of 
Rodriguez.  McCormack waived the matter to Step II on or about October 2, 2003, and 
the grievance was filed at Step II on or about October 3, 2003 by Boland who signed both 
the Complainant’s name and that of Rodriguez. 
 
79.     By letter dated October 1, 2003, Little submitted Grievance 07-4660 to arbitration 
via certified letter to Yelmini. (Ex. 82). The letter was copied to Boland and the 
Complainant. 
 
80.     On October 29, 2003 John Power (Power), Special Investigator/Security Officer for 
the Lottery, sent the Complainant an email with the subject line “Request to meet with 
you.” (Ex. 102). In the email, Power informed the Complainant that he was “conducting 
an ongoing investigation into incidents involving the incoming mail to the Connecticut 
Lottery Corporation,” and needed to interview the employees assigned to handle 
incoming mail, including the Complainant. He informed the Complainant that as it was 
an investigation, she had the right to have a Union representative present. The 
Complainant forwarded the email to Boland a short while later that same day, asking if 
Boland knew anything about it. Boland emailed Power and the Complainant on October 
30, 2003, informing Power that the Union would be present during all questioning of its 
clerical employees. Boland emailed the Complainant separately a short time later to 
respond to her earlier email. Boland informed her that she did not know anything about 
the matter but would forward any information she received from Power to the 
Complainant. A few minutes later the Complainant emailed Boland to ask if she had 
heard from any of the other clericals. Soon thereafter Boland emailed the Complainant, 
Power, and Rodriguez, stating that she had just spoken with Power; management had 
learned that there was an inconsistency in the handling of mail and wanted to speak to the 
mail handlers as a result.    
 
81. Boland was not present if and when the other clerical employees were questioned 
regarding the ongoing mail investigation. At some point, the Union reviewed the only 
evidence the State had in support of their claim, a security tape from the mail handling 
building/trailer. Boland, Rodriguez, the Complainant, and Power viewed it together. The 
tape showed the Complainant in the mail handling building/trailer, opening a letter and 
reading its contents and writing something on a piece of paper to her right. It was not 
clear from the tape what the piece of paper was or what the Complainant was writing. At 
some point, Boland argued to Power that the Complainant could have been writing a 
grocery list; simply because she was writing something did not mean she was copying the 
contents of the letter. The Complainant stated that she opened the letter because the 
envelope did not identify whose mail it was. 
 
82. On November 5, 2003 Grievance No. 07-4689 was amended to include alleged 
violations of Article 11, Section 1 and Article 15. On or about November 14, 2003 
Mehigen denied the grievance in writing (Exs. 74, 84), stating: 

 
The original grievance filed on September 30, 2003 cited a violation of Article 
10, Sections 1-4 of the Administrative Clerical collective bargaining agreement. 
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The grievant was rated fair in Quality of Work and unsatisfactory for Ability to 
Deal with People. To support the fair rating, the supervisor referenced two letters 
of counseling that were issued during the rating year. The Union contends that the 
counseling letters are not disciplinary and therefore, should not be used to “inflict 
discipline” or “be listed on the rating form”. Furthermore, the Union argues that 
the references to the letters should be considered inconsistent comments, which is 
a violation of Article 10, Section 2 of the contract.  
 
At the Step 2 conference the Union amended the grievance to include Article 11, 
Section 1 and Article 15. With respect to both Quality of Work and Ability to  
Deal with People, the Union argues that the agency failed to provide adequate 
training in these categories.  
 
The reference to the counseling letters is consistent with a fair rating in the quality 
of work category. Moreover, the service rating, which is not disciplinary, is  
appropriate given the performance of the grievant during the rating period.  
 
No contract violation. Grievance denied. 

 
83. On or about November 21, 2003 Hooker filed Grievance No.07-4689 to Step III 
along with a letter addressed to Yelmini and copied to the Complainant and Boland. (Exs. 
74, 84). The 07-4689 grievance form indicated that the matter was appealed to Step III on 
or about November 18, 2003; however, the Complainant did not sign the grievance and in 
the space reserved for the union’s signature, it stated, “Council 4 Rep (TBD).” 
 
84. In a November 24, 2003 memorandum to the Complainant regarding Grievance 
No. 07-4689, copy to Boland, Hooker stated, “[a]ttached please find the Step II response 
and the attachment for an appeal to Step III. To preserve the time limits, I will send it 
today and copy you and Ms. Boland.” (Ex. 84). 
 
85. A Loudermill hearing was held in or about December of 2003 at the Lottery 
regarding the allegations of inappropriate mail handling. Boland and Rodriguez were 
present. The Complainant was represented by her own private attorney at the hearing.  
 
86. On or about February 26, 2004, DiMauro wrote a letter to Arbitrator Mark 
Grossman informing him that Grievance No. 4660 was scheduled for arbitration on June 
7, 2004 and that the State was planning to raise the issue of arbitrability. (Ex. 82). The 
letter stated that the Complainant would be represented by the Union, and was copied to 
Little, Brown-Brewton, and M. Weinberger from the Connecticut Lottery Corporation.  
 
87. Jeff Scanlon (Scanlon) had been employed by the Union since December of 1997. 
He replaced Hooker as the Union Staff Representative for the NP-3 clerical bargaining 
unit in March of 2004. There was a transition period of approximately sixty days during 
which Hooker was still serving as Staff Representative for the NP-3 unit but while 
Scanlon was also employed in that position. Sometime during this transition period, 
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Hooker informed Scanlon that she was handling the Complainant’s grievances. Boland 
contacted Scanlon once during this period to inquire as to the appropriate response to a 
number of emails she had received from the Complainant. Scanlon told Boland that he 
would speak to Hooker about her concerns. 
 
88. On or about March 1, 2004, Luciano sent the Complainant a letter in response to 
an emailed request made by the Complainant regarding her grievances. (Exs. 90, 96). The 
body of the letter stated in full, “I believe this is the denial (see enclosed). You have 
another grievance at step 3 awaiting more information from you that was heard by Fae 
Brown-Brewton. You also have a grievance that is going to arbitration, John Little is 
presenting that case.” The letter was copied to Boland and Scanlon. 
 
89. In a letter dated March 5, 2004 to Complainant, Luciano wrote in full, “You have 
requested Art Rodriguez’s notes on your grievances from Council 4. It is not the policy of 
Council 4 to release such material. However, we have looked at the files left by Art 
Rodriguez and do not find any items.” The letter was copied to Scanlon and Boland. 
 
90. On March 8, 2004 Robert Lyons (Lyons), International Judicial Panel member, 
issued a decision in Judicial Panel Case No. 02-120, Jackson v. Boland. (Ex. 36). Lyons 
noted that a decision in this matter had originally been issued on March 13, 2003, but that 
the Complainant had appealed the decision to the full Judicial Panel on March 27, 2003. 
The full Judicial Panel decided to reopen the case for the purpose of taking additional 
testimony and evidence on the question of Boland’s eligibility to serve as president of the 
Local; the remaining charges were deemed disposed of in the original decision. The trial 
was reopened on January 14, 2004 and the Complainant, as the charging party, was 
present and represented herself. The Complainant alleged that Boland was ineligible to be 
a member of the Local by reason of her geographical work location. The Judicial Panel 
decided that, based on her place of employment, Boland was not eligible for membership 
in the Local and therefore could not serve as president. The Judicial Panel removed her 
from that office and directed the Local Executive Board to fill that vacancy in accordance 
with the Union constitution. Other charges against Boland brought by the Complainant 
were dismissed.   
 
91. On or about March 31, 2004 Little sent a memo to Boland, copy to the 
Complainant, noticing the June 7, 2004 arbitration for Grievance No.07-4660. (Ex. 82).   
 
92. On or about March 31, 2004 Little sent a memo to Boland, copy to the 
Complainant, noticing a Step III hearing to be held April 6, 2004 in three of the 
Complainant’s grievances, including this grievance: 07-4650, 07-4656, and 07-4689. 
(Exs. 81, 83, 84).  
 
93. At some point the Complainant had filed at least one complaint with the 
Connecticut Commission on Human Rights and Opportunities (CHRO) against the 
Lottery, alleging sexual harassment, racial discrimination, and retaliation. The 
Complainant hired and was represented by her own private attorney for the CHRO 
proceedings.  The Complainant did not request the Union’s assistance in filing or 
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pursuing the complaint(s).  The Union was not a party to the proceedings. Boland was 
unaware that these complaints had been filed until after the matters were resolved in 
April 2004.   
 
94. A mandatory mediation settlement conference/hearing was held at CHRO 
sometime in or about March of 2004. Mehigen was one of the individuals representing 
the Lottery at the conference. The Complainant was present for these discussions, and 
was represented by her private attorney. The Complainant did not inform the Union that 
these discussions were to take place or invite them to attend.  
 
95. On April 2, 2004 the Complainant sent an email to Luciano, Little, and Miller 
requesting that her April 6, 2004 grievance hearing be rescheduled due to a death in the 
family. (Ex. 97). She also asked, “…can you tell me why notice of this meeting is being 
sent to Carla Boland, as President of Local 196? I received a ruling from the International 
that Carla was to be removed from office. I am concerned that it appears that she is still 
acting in the role of president and by copy of this e-mail, I am asking the International to 
certify that the local has complied with its ruling.” Luciano responded via email, copied 
to Little, the same day, stating that they would make every effort to postpone the 
grievances and that he would inform Little of the situation. Regarding her question about 
Boland, Luciano replied, “[y]our inquiry is going to the appropriate place. The 
International is the body that makes the decisions and has the authority to implement 
them.”    
 
96. On April 5, 2004 the Complainant emailed Luciano. (Ex. 64). The email read in 
full: 

I sought legal representation to aid in the preservation of my job because it was 
my firm belief that the former Local President, Carla Boland, was colluding 
with Lottery management and working against my interest.  
 
To this end, I filed two CHRO claims for issues previously relayed to the union 
in other forums.  
 
The Lottery and my attorney want me to waive my union rights in exchange for 
a settlement at the CHRO.  
 
However, it remains my position that the union should be involved in this  
negotiation since I am being asked to waive my union grievances and arbitration 
rights in exchange for involuntarily separating from the State. 
 
I do not want to sign off on any agreement without the union. I want to be placed 
on the SEBAC/Reemployment list. 

Luciano did not discuss the Complainant’s pending settlement agreement with 
other Union staff or intervene in the CHRO matter because it was his belief that the 
manner in which the Complainant decided to settle her own CHRO complaint was a 
matter between her and her attorney because the Complainant had filed the CHRO 
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complaints as an individual; she had not involved the Union in the matters. Luciano 
believed that the Complainant should have the ability to decide whether to settle the 
pending grievances through her CHRO proceeding.  
 
97.     On April 9, 2004 the Complainant and the Lottery entered into a “Confidential 
Settlement and Release Agreement” (Settlement Agreement) to settle the Complainant’s 
CHRO claims. In exchange for a sum of money, the Complainant agreed to the terms of 
the Settlement Agreement. The Complainant was represented by her private attorney for 
these proceedings and for purposes of the Settlement Agreement. The document was 
fully explained to her and she understood its content and meaning before she signed it, 
and fully intended to honor its terms. In pertinent part, the Settlement Agreement read:  

 
On behalf of [the Complainant] and her descendants, dependents, heirs, attorneys, 
agents, executors, administrators, successors and assigns, and each of them, 
hereby covenants not to sue and fully releases and discharges Connecticut Lottery 
Corporation, as well as its past, present, and future trustees, directors, officers, 
agents, attorneys, insurers, employees, owners, representatives, subsidiaries, 
parents, affiliates, successors and assigns, and each of them, hereinafter together 
and collectively referred to as “RELEASEE,” with respect to and from any and all 
claims, grievances, prohibited practices, wages, severance, demands, rights, liens, 
agreements, contracts, covenants, torts, arbitrations, suits, causes of action, 
obligations, debts, costs, expenses, attorneys’ fees, damages, judgments, orders 
and liabilities of whatever kind or nature in law, equity or otherwise, individually 
or as a class member, whether now known or unknown, or any other transactions, 
occurrences, acts, or omissions or any loss, damage, or injury whatever, known or 
unknown, suspected or unsuspected, arising out of or in any way relating to 
JACKSON’S employment relationship with the Connecticut Lottery Corporation, 
or resulting from any act or omission by or on the part of said Releasee, or any of 
them, which arose or were committed or omitted prior to the date of this 
Agreement, including but not limited to the claims alleged in the Actions, any 
claims for discrimination on the basis of race, color, gender, disability, national 
origin, ancestry, and/or retaliation under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 
42 U.S.C., 2000e, et seq., as amended by the Civil Rights Act of 1991, 42 U.S.C., 
1981a, or other federal statute or common law, or arising under the Connecticut 
Fair Employment Practices Act, Connecticut General Statutes, 46a-60 et seq. 
(“CFEPA”), or other Connecticut statute or common law; claims for disability 
discrimination under the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”) and/or under 
state statute or common law; any and all claims under the Family Medical Leave 
Act, 29 U.S.C. 2601, et seq. (“FMLA”); any and all claims under the Connecticut 
Family Medical Leave Act, Connecticut General Statutes 31-51kk, et seq. 
(“CFMLA”); any and all claims under the Employment Retirement Income 
Security Act (“ERISA”); any and all claims under the Equal Pay Act, CFEPA, or 
other federal or state statute or common law in which JACKSON claims or could 
claim any rights, injuries, or damages against the Connecticut Lottery Corporation 
arising up to the date of execution of the Agreement, except for the obligations 
and rights set forth in this Agreement. 
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JACKSON and her attorneys shall cause the Actions to be withdrawn and dis- 
missed with prejudice, upon receipt of the payments described in Paragraphs 1 
to 3. JACKSON agrees to withdraw any and all other actions, claims, grievances, 
prohibited practices, complaints, and investigations of any kind in any forum or 
administrative body, filed or made against the Connecticut Lottery Corporation 
and any of its employees, with the exception of an unrelated prohibited practice 
she has pending against her union. 
 
JACKSON further agrees to withdraw all pending requests, if any, she made to  
the Connecticut Lottery Corporation under the Freedom of Information Act  
(“FOI”). JACKSON agrees that any FOI requests she files with the Connecticut 
Lottery Corporation shall be limited to information necessary for her pending 
prohibited practice against her union.  
 
In no event, however, will JACKSON file any FOIA requests of any kind with 
the Connecticut Lottery Corporation after June 10, 2004.  
 
Further, JACKSON agrees that she will instruct her family members not to file  
any FOI requests on her behalf with the Connecticut Lottery Corporation  
relating to any personnel matters and/or issues. 
 
JACKSON agrees that she will never seek to re-institute or prosecute the Actions 
or any other action, claim, complaint, grievance, prohibited practice, or 
proceeding in any forum against Connecticut Lottery Corporation regarding or in 
any way relating to the claims made in the Actions, or any possible claims against 
Connecticut Lottery Corporation concerning in any way her employment with the 
Connecticut Lottery Corporation arising up to the date of the execution of this 
Agreement. 
 
JACKSON further agrees to never file, commence, prosecute, or financially 
support any action, claim, grievance, proceeding, or charge against Connecticut 
Lottery Corporation in any state or federal court, administrative or arbitral forum 
with respect to any matter, whether or not known, for or with the purpose of 
recovering damages or other monetary or personal relief, based upon any act, 
transaction, practice, conduct, or omission occurring from the beginning of the 
world to the date this Agreement is fully executed, except for claims for breach of 
this Agreement. 
 
Furthermore, JACKSON shall not be entitled to receive any relief, recovery, or  
monies in connection with any action, claim, proceeding, or charge released 
herein brought against Connecticut Lottery Corporation without regard as to who 
brought any said action, claim, proceeding, or charge.   

 
98. The Complainant did not give a copy of the Settlement Agreement to the Union. 
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99. Luciano did not learn that the Complainant had left State service until after the 
fact. Boland did not receive official notice that the Complainant had left State service. At 
some point, however, the Complainant’s former coworkers contacted Boland to inform 
her. The Union also informed Boland at some point. Boland did not contact the 
Complainant regarding her grievances; they had all been turned over to the Union by that 
point and they were no longer the province of the Local. Boland learned at some point 
that Little had withdrawn the Complainant’s grievances. Boland did not see the 
Settlement Agreement and was not aware of its terms and conditions. 
 
100. Luciano directed the Union staff attorney to procure a copy of the Settlement 
Agreement; at some point, a copy was received by Little. 
 
101. On or about May 5, 2004 Miller sent a letter to Little, copied to Luciano, Scanlon, 
and Director of Organizing and Collective Bargaining Kevin Murphy (Murphy) that 
stated in full, “[b]ased upon the Settlement Agreement between Renee Jackson and the 
Connecticut Lottery Corp. dated April 12, 2004, Local 196 hereby withdraws any and all 
grievances regarding Ms. Jackson without precedent or prejudice to the Union’s 
position.” (Exs. 78, 79, 80, 81, 82, 83, 84). 
 
102. Also on or about May 5, 2004 Little sent a certified letter to Yelmini, copied to 
Miller, Luciano, Murphy, and Scanlon, that stated in full, “[t]he Union hereby withdraws 
any and all grievances of [Renee Jackson] without precedent or prejudice to the Union’s 
position.” (Exs. 78, 79, 80, 81, 82, 83, 84, 90, 92). 
 
103. At some point Scanlon and Little discussed Little’s May 5, 2004 letter. Little 
indicated to Scanlon that, as a result of a conversation he had had with Hooker, the 
Complainant’s grievances were being withdrawn based on the terms of a settlement 
agreement between the Complainant and the State.  
 
104. Boland addressed a letter to Enforcement Unit Investigator Ben Nidus (Nidus) of 
the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) dated November 13, 
2006. (Ex. 99). The letter was written in response to discrimination charges filed against 
the Union by the Complainant. Boland informed Nidus that it was the first time in the 
twelve years she had been president of the Local that the Local had ever been accused of 
discriminatory acts. She stated that “[the Complainant] was a member of our organization 
from 2002 through 2004. Ms. Jackson entered into an agreement with the Connecticut 
Lottery her employer (the union was not party to the hearing) and Ms. Jackson resigned 
in April of 2004. The agreement is one of confidentiality and any breach would nullify 
the settlement. I do not have the document nor am I fully aware of the contents…Mr. 
Gagne believes the content’s of the settlement will disclose that Ms. Jackson withdrew 
her grievances and therefore the union could not move any further.” Boland noted that 
she was providing additional documentation to support the Local’s position that it acted 
appropriately regarding the Complainant’s grievances. In an attached sheet, Boland 
wrote: 

#52 – Ms. Jackson was denied an annual increment as were all others clericals  
covered under the contract dated 2002-2006, the denial of the annual increment 
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was a result of contract negotiations. Article 26/Section One. The first contractual 
raise negotiated for the clericals was effective July 11, 2003, the base annual 
salary of all employees shall be increased by three percent (3%). Ms. Jackson 
received this increase. 
 
#67 – The union did not arbitrarily withdraw any grievances, Ms. Jackson on her 
own accord resigned from state service April 2004.  
 
#68 – The union filed nine (9) grievances in Ms. Jackson behalf between 2002 
and 2003. Ms. Jackson did not lose any compensation nor did she experience any 
loss of time without pay from her job as a result of any of the discipline imposed 
by her employer. Ms. Jackson resigned from state service in April of 2004, and 
the grievances were withdrawn.  
 
#70 – The union was not made aware of the alleged sexual harassment until after 
Ms. Jackson filed with CHRO and lost. 

     

CONCLUSION OF LAW 

1. The Complainant has not proven that the Union violated its duty of fair 
representation to her.   

 

DISCUSSION 

 In this case, the Complainant has alleged a wide array of actions by the Union, 
which she claims violate the Union’s duty of fair representation.  In her initial complaint, 
the Complainant alleged that she was forced to resign from her position with Lottery 
because Union President Boland harbored a personal bias and animosity against her and 
that the Union failed to: write or track grievances, provide the Complainant with copies 
or information regarding the grievances or conduct proper investigations into the 
grievances filed.  The Complainant also alleged that the Union failed to assist her with 
charges filed with CHRO, attempted to thwart her efforts to gather information through 
FOI, suspended her from Union membership for non-payment of dues and sought 
discipline against her.  During the course of the formal hearing, the Complainant further 
alleged that the Union had failed to file a prohibited practice complaint against the 
Lottery when it learned that the Lottery was negotiating a settlement of the 
Complainant’s CHRO claim.  In her most recent filing in support of her motion for 
summary judgment, Complainant argues that the Union failed to assist her in her 
allegations of sexual harassment against a supervisor while she was employed by Lottery. 
 
 The Union supports its motion to dismiss on several grounds.  First, it argues that 
any complaint against Boland or Luciano individually must be dismissed because 
individual union officers cannot be held responsible for complaints against the union.  
The Union also argues that the Complainant must prove that the employer violated the 
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contract in order to sustain a duty of fair representation claim against the union and that 
the Complainant has failed to sustain her burden of proof in this case.   
 
 Both parties have cited extensive case law in support of their positions, much of 
which is not relevant to the decision before us.  This case arises from a rather unique set 
of circumstances.  Specifically, the Complainant has individually and voluntarily settled 
her dispute with her employer, received payment as part of that settlement and waived 
any further legal claims against Lottery.  The question is not before us, nor would we 
have any basis to find on the facts presented, that the Complainant’s settlement with 
Lottery was anything other than a mutual settlement in which the individual was 
represented by competent counsel and was fully aware of the implications of entering 
into the agreement.  As such, the Complainant cannot now make any claims before this 
Board against the Lottery.  That leaves the Complainant with only the Union as a 
respondent and her argument that the Union’s failure to represent her forced her to resign 
her position with Lottery.   
 
 We first review the law under which we make our determination.  Although the 
SERA differs from the National Labor Relations Act in that SERA specifically prohibits 
a union from violating its duty of fair representation, our case law in this area is based on 
and developed from the NLRB and federal court pronouncements.  The standard used is 
taken directly from the U.S. Supreme Court’s decision in Vaca v. Sipes, 386 US 771 
(1967).  Pursuant to the Supreme Court’s ruling in that case, we have repeatedly held: 
 

A Union breaches its duty of fair representation only when its conduct 
toward a member of the bargaining unit is arbitrary, discriminatory or in 
bad faith….Mere negligence on the part of the Union in processing the 
grievance is not sufficient grounds to prove a violation of the statute.  The 
Union has no obligation to pursue any grievance or to carry it to 
arbitration as long as the decision is not arbitrary, discriminatory or in bad 
faith.  Local 1565, Council 4, AFSCME, AFL-CIO (Bishop), Decision 
No. 3510 (1997).  (Internal citations omitted).  

 
With respect to a union’s duty in processing grievances, the Supreme Court in Vaca 
stated: 

Though we accept the proposition that a Union may not arbitrarily ignore 
a meritorious grievance or process it in a perfunctory fashion, we do not 
agree that the individual employee has an absolute right to have his 
grievance taken to arbitration regardless of the provisions of the applicable 
collective bargaining agreement. 

 
Likewise, concerning a union’s discretion regarding how and when to pursue complaints, 
we have stated: 
 

The union does not breach its duty of fair representation simply by taking 
a position that adversely affects one of its employees.  Such conduct 
includes a Union’s discretion on how far to pursue a grievance, provided 
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the decision is made in good faith and without discrimination. Teamsters 
Local 677 and Ida Singer, Decision No. 1141 (1973); State of 
Connecticut and Vera McGregor, et al, Decision No. 2638 (1988); State 
Vocational Federation of Teachers Local 1797, AFT and Ralph 
Kingsbury, Decision No. 2372 (1985); Locals 538 and 704, Council 4, 
AFSCME (Parmlee), Decision No. 3825 (2001); AFSCME, Council 4 
(Carabine), Decision No.  3939 (2004); 

 
The Connecticut Supreme Court has adopted the same standard in analyzing duty of fair 
representation cases.  In Labbe v. Hartford Pension Commission, 239 Conn. 168, 682 
A.2d 490 (1996), the Court stated: 
 

…we conclude that a ‘union’s actions are arbitrary only if, in light of the 
factual and legal landscape at the time of the union’s actions, the union’s 
behavior is so far outside a wide range of reasonableness…as to be 
irrational.’ (citation omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.) Airline 
Pilots v. O’Neill, supra,  499 U.S. at 67, 11 S.Ct. at 1130; see Ford Motor 
Company v. Huffman, 345 U.S. 330, 338, 73 S.Ct. 681, 686, 97 L.Ed. 
1048 (1953).  Furthermore a union’s actions are in bad faith if the union 
acts fraudulently or deceitfully; Humphrey v. Moore, 375 U.S. at 348-49, 
84 S.Ct. at 371-72; or does not act to further the best interests of its 
members.  
Labbe, supra, 239 Conn. at 195.  

 
The above standard clearly allows a union considerable discretion and wide latitude in 
the performance of its duties towards its members, including its duty to represent the 
members in the grievance process. Without such considerable latitude, a union would be 
unable to function and to make difficult decisions about the use of limited resources. 
    

Although the above standard has been employed by this Board in all types of duty 
of fair representation cases, the Union argues a slightly different standard in this case.  In 
this regard, the Union argues that this Board should employ the standard used by the 
courts when a plaintiff initiates a lawsuit in court alleging a breach of the duty of fair 
representation in connection with a wrongful discharge claim.    In the federal courts, this 
action is generally based on a violation of §301 of the Labor Management Relations Act, 
29 USCA §185, which gives the federal courts jurisdiction over breaches of collective 
bargaining agreements.  A duty of fair representation claim brought in this manner is tied 
to a claim by an individual that the collective bargaining agreement was breached by the 
employer and that, but for the union’s failure to properly represent the plaintiff, the 
plaintiff would have won his/her grievance.  A plaintiff must prove that the collective 
bargaining agreement was breached or, put another way, that his/her grievance had merit, 
in order to maintain the cause of action against the union. Hines v. Anchor Motor 
Freight, Inc, et al, 424 U.S. 554, 96 S.Ct. 1048 (1976).  Our state courts have adopted 
this reasoning in similar types of cases initiated in the courts under a wrongful discharge 
theory.  Masto v. Board of Education of Hamden, et al, 200 Conn. 482 (1986).   
  

 35



Using the standard described above in court actions, the Union here argues that 
Complainant must prove that each of the nine grievances presented was meritorious in 
order to maintain this prohibited practice complaint.  We do not agree.  First, a duty of 
fair representation claim before this Board stands alone as a specific statutory violation 
and we have never required complainants to file against both the employer and the union 
when seeking a ruling based on a duty of fair representation.  A violation of the duty of 
fair representation is not always tied to a claim of breach of contract when brought before 
this Board and can stand alone.  Second, our case law contemplates that we will often 
look at the relative merits of a grievance when determining a duty of fair representation 
claim; this is implied in cases in which we find that a union is not obligated to take a 
clearly meritless grievance to arbitration or that a union has discretion to refuse to pursue 
even a seemingly meritorious grievance.  However, this is different than requiring that a 
complainant always prove that she would have won her grievance before we will 
consider a duty of fair representation claim.  There are many ways in which a union’s 
conduct can be found to be arbitrary, discriminatory or taken in bad faith, even in the 
context of a grievance proceeding, where we do not reach the merits of the actual 
grievance.  We have often stated that we will not undertake to determine the actual merits 
of the grievance and the statute contemplates that a duty of fair representation claim is a 
specific and separate violation.  To adopt the standard advanced by the Union would be 
contrary to the well-settled and time-tested analysis of duty of fair representation claims 
brought in this forum.1

 
 The above discussion does not end our analysis at this juncture of the case.  It is 
appropriate at this point to review the voluminous evidence presented by the Complainant 
over the course of eleven days of hearing to determine if she has proven her case under 
the statute. The Complainant has been given ample and repeated opportunity to present 
witnesses and evidence and has now stated that her case is fully presented. Before going 
any further, it is prudent to review the evidence to determine if the Complainant has 
presented sufficient evidence to prove her claims.  As discussed below, we find that she 
has not met her burden of proving a violation of the duty of fair representation by the 
Union.2  

                                                 
1 Our analysis regarding the maintenance of the claim does not touch upon what remedy might be available 
to a Complainant who brings a claim only against the union, as in this case.  The available remedy would 
be a different matter that would require us to consider that the employer is not a party to the complaint 
and/or (as in this case) has already settled the Complainant’s claims against it.   
2 We deny the Complainant’s request to introduce an additional document.  The Complainant rested her 
case and has had many days of hearing during which to introduce documents.  The specific documents she 
now offers purportedly establish that she personally contacted the State concerning one of the grievances 
that had been filed on her behalf.  The record contains much evidence regarding this grievance, including 
documents showing the Union’s course of action with regard to the grievance.  The evidence shows that the 
Union took this particular grievance to arbitration and the State maintained its position that the Union was 
untimely in its actions.  This is the relevant evidence concerning this grievance as it relates to the Union’s 
duty of fair representation.  The Complainant’s offered documents do not add to our analysis.  Further, 
there is no explanation for the delay in submitting this document other than the Complainant discovered it 
among her papers after the close of her case.  Under the circumstances, we deny the request to admit the 
document as a full exhibit.  
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Before turning to the substance of the case, we consider that the Union has argued 
that the Complainant cannot maintain this complaint against Boland and Luciano 
individually and as such, any such claims should be dismissed.  We agree that a union 
agent cannot be held individually liable for actions taken in their official capacity on 
behalf of the union.  Gagliardi v. The East Hartford Housing Authority, 2004 WL 
78150 (D.Conn.)(2004) citing Morris v. Local 819, International Brotherhood of 
Teamsters, 169 F.3d 782, 784 (2d Cir. 1999).  To the extent that the Complainant is 
making any claims against Boland or Luciano in their individual capacities, her claims 
are dismissed.  However, the Complainant is allowed to name, as she has here, union 
officials in their official capacities. 

    
Turning to the substance of the complaint, we first find that the Complainant 

presented no evidence that the Union suspended her from membership or sought 
disciplinary action against her.  As such these allegations are dismissed.  

 
The Complainant also alleges that the Union failed to assist her with charges filed 

with CHRO.  Even assuming the Union had a duty to represent the Complainant before 
CHRO, there is no evidence in the record to establish that the Complainant ever 
contacted the Union regarding her CHRO proceedings prior to her April, 2004 e-mail to 
Luciano.  There is no evidence that she asked for, or welcomed, the Union’s involvement 
in that matter prior to several days before she settled the case in April 2004.  In this 
regard, Boland’s uncontradicted testimony establishes that she was unaware of the CHRO 
proceedings until after the complaint was resolved.  The Complainant was represented by 
her own counsel, initiated the CHRO proceedings with that counsel and proceeded 
through various stages of the process without contacting the Union or asking for its input 
or assistance.  Even if the Union became aware of the pending CHRO matter prior to 
April, 2004 there is no evidence on the record to determine that the Complainant desired 
the Union’s involvement at any time prior to April 2004.  Putting aside the 
Complainant’s April 5, 2004 e-mail to Luciano (Ex. 64), which we discuss below, we 
dismiss the Complainant’s allegation that the Union failed to assist her with a CHRO 
complaint.    

 
Likewise, we dismiss the allegation that the Union attempted to thwart the 

Complainant’s FOI attempts.  The record shows that the Union objected on behalf of 
another bargaining unit member to an FOI request to release that employee’s personnel 
information. Such an objection is provided for in the law and the Union has an obligation 
to represent all its members. The Union’s actions were not a violation of its duty to the 
Complainant.   

 
We review the remaining allegations together.  The allegations are that the Union 

President harbored personal bias toward the Complainant and, as a result, the Union 
failed: to write or track grievances, provide the Complainant with information regarding 
grievances or conduct proper investigations, file a prohibited practice complaint against 
the Lottery for negotiating a CHRO settlement agreement with the Complainant and 
assist the Complainant with allegations of sexual harassment against a supervisor. 
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The evidence does not support a finding that the Union violated its duty in this 
case.  The Complainant had received two letters of counseling during her first few 
months working as a Secretary II.  Upon inquiring, she was correctly informed by Boland 
and Luciano that counseling letters are not considered discipline under the collective 
bargaining agreement and cannot be grieved.  In spite of this, Luciano assigned Hooker to 
meet with the Complainant to further discuss the situation and advised her to look into 
FMLA leave for her absences.  Hooker did contact the Complainant, acknowledged the 
Complainant’s concerns about Boland’s response and ultimately a grievance was filed 
(07-4533) concerning the counseling letters.  This was the first of nine grievances that 
would eventually be filed by either the Complainant or the Union during the remainder of 
her employment. Boland conducted a thorough investigation of the mail-handling 
meeting that led to the first letter of counseling. She interviewed people, toured the mail 
handling trailer and met with DuPuis to discuss the incidents. 

   
Thereafter, the Complainant filed four grievances on her own, either signing a 

union representative’s name or indicating the Union would be representing her. (07-4565, 
07-4572, 07-4656, 07-4689).   The Union filed four additional grievances on the 
Complainant’s behalf (07-4568, 07-4569, 07-4650, 07-4660).   All nine grievances were 
processed at least through Step III of the grievance procedure.  At various times, the 
Complainant communicated directly with management and processed her own grievances 
to the next level.  The record indicates that the Union filed 7 of the grievances to Step III 
and the Complainant forwarded 2 of the grievances herself.  At one point, she amended 
grievance 07-4572, stating that the Union would not be representing her.  Three 
grievances were filed for arbitration by the Union; two were withdrawn by the Union in 
August 2003.  The remaining grievances were all withdrawn when the Complainant 
settled her CHRO claim with the Lottery.   

 
The totality of the evidence supports the following conclusions.  The Complainant 

had severe conflicts with her supervisors beginning approximately 6 months after she 
began working.  She received advice from the Union, including Boland, concerning 
whether her initial counseling letters were grievable. However, the Complainant did not 
like the answers she received.  At her insistence, a grievance was eventually filed by the 
Union.  Although the Complainant argues that the Union filed the “wrong” grievance, it 
is clear that the letters of counseling were the source of the Complainant’s concern and 
led to the extension of her working test period.  The Union filed a  grievance regarding 
the events and pursued through Step III. 

   
The remainder of the Complainant’s tenure at the Lottery was marked by 

continuing conflict with her supervisors.  The evidence shows that the Union addressed 
each incident either by filing grievances or pursuing those filed by the Complainant.  It is 
clear that the Complainant did not and does not believe that the Union did enough on her 
behalf. But the record does not support the Complainant’s assertion that the Union acted 
in a way that violated its duty of fair representation.  Specifically, there is no evidence of 
any personal or other bias by Boland against the Complainant.  There is nothing to 
support this statement by the Complainant.  Boland investigated the Complainant’s 
complaints, represented her at grievance hearings along with other representatives and 
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processed her grievances.  There is no evidence that Boland or the Union stopped 
representing the Complainant when she filed charges with the International against 
Boland.   

 
The fact that the Complainant criticized the Union’s efforts and took matters into 

her own hands on more than one occasion does not prove that the Union was not 
representing her.  It shows simply that the Complainant was not satisfied with the 
Union’s efforts.  Indeed much confusion exists on a first glance at this record due to the 
fact that the Complainant frequently communicated directly with management, often 
signing union representative names to documents.  

  
The Complainant specifically argues that the Union did not support her in her 

sexual harassment complaints against her supervisor.  First, there is no record evidence of 
any formal sexual harassment complaints filed by the Complainant other than the CHRO 
complaint.  Moreover, the record evidence shows that the first time the Complainant 
informed the Union of the alleged sexual harassment was in May 2003, when she alleged 
that the harassment had occurred months earlier.  Thereafter she filed a grievance 
referring to this alleged conduct which grievance was still pending at the time of the 
Complainant’s settlement with the Lottery. 

 
This brings us to the Complainant’s final allegation; that the Union should have 

filed a prohibited practice complaint against the Lottery when the Complainant informed 
it that the Lottery was negotiating a settlement with her.  The Complainant appears to be 
arguing that the Lottery was committing a prohibited practice by negotiating directly with 
her on the CHRO complaint and that the Union should have intervened.  This argument is 
without merit.  The Complainant cannot have it both ways.  She initiated a CHRO 
complaint, hired a lawyer, did not inform the Union of her actions and then, when she 
reached a point of settlement, reached out to the Union.  It is difficult to understand the 
Complainant’s position.  There is no evidence that she was coerced in any way into 
signing a settlement agreement.  She was represented by competent counsel.  She reached 
a voluntary settlement that included money.  As part of that settlement she waived any 
further action against the Lottery.  Now, the Complainant argues that the Union acted 
unlawfully by not interfering with her right to settle her complaint.  The Complainant 
argues that the Union had no right to withdraw pending grievances that the Complainant 
had agreed to abandon in her agreement with the Lottery.  We fail to see how the Union 
acted unlawfully.  It can certainly be argued that the Union was obligated to withdraw the 
grievances once it found out about the settlement. In fact, the Union’s actions can be 
viewed as facilitating the implementation of the Complainant’s settlement. The fact that 
the Union did not call the Complainant directly regarding the settlement does not change 
the analysis.  She chose to settle all claims against the Lottery and she did so voluntarily.  
Having done so, there was nothing left for the Union to do on her behalf.  

  
Based on all the record evidence, the complaint is dismissed.  
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ORDER 

 By virtue of and pursuant to the powers vested in the Connecticut State Board of 
Labor Relations by the State Employee Relations Act, it is hereby 

 
ORDERED that the complaint filed herein be, and the same hereby is, 

DISMISSED. 
 

CONNECTICUT STATE BOARD OF LABOR RELATIONS 
 
 

John W. Moore, Jr. 
John W. Moore, Jr. 

                    Chairman 
                                                         
                                                        Patricia V. Low 
                                                        Patricia V. Low 
                                                        Board Member 

   
Wendella A. Battey 

                                                        Wendella A. Battey 
                                                        Board Member 
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CERTIFICATION 
 
 I hereby certify that a copy of the foregoing was mailed postage prepaid this 
29th day of April, 2008 to the following: 
 
Renee Jackson 
92 Country Lane      RRR 
East Hartford, CT  06118 
 
Attorney J. William Gagne, Jr. 
Gagne & Associates      RRR 
970 Farmington Avenue 
Suite 207  
West Hartford, CT  06107 
 
Attorney Susan Creamer 
Council 4, AFSCME 
444 East Main Street  
New Britain, CT  06051 
 
 __________________________ 
 Jaye Bailey, General Counsel 
 CONNECTICUT STATE BOARD OF LABOR RELATIONS 
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